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Preliminary Final Report 
for the year ended 31 July 2024 

 
 

KEY POINTS 

 Active Investment: Lion has been investing in micro-capitalisation resources companies 
targeting: 

 Strong growth outlook; 

 Uplift from project de-risking; and 

 Leverage to cyclical recovery and return of investor risk appetite to the sector. 

 Portfolio development:  Lion is focused on opportunities in precious metals, base metals 
and strategic metals in Australia for new investment, with $18.0M invested during the 
year and a further $4.4M committed proximal to 31 July: 

 Cornerstone positions in two multi-million-ounce gold companies located in the 
heart of WA’s gold fields: Saturn Metals and Brightstar Resources: 

o $8M investment in Saturn Metals taking Lion’s interest to 19.4% of a large 
and strategic gold resource amenable to very low-cost mining and 
processing; and 

o $2.0M invested in Brightstar Resources plus $4.3M committed to support 
regional consolidation of the Sandstone region.  Assuming the 
consolidation takes place as planned, Lion will become a 5.1% shareholder 
in Brightstar Resources. 

 Further $3.8M invested into Plutonic taking Lion’s interest to 41.9% of a tightly 
held unlisted copper-gold company exploring one of the largest untested 
hydrothermal systems in Australia; 

 Other investments in Antipa Minerals, Koonenberry Gold, Sunshine Metals and 
Venture Minerals. 

 Lion Management: Lion’s investment team are now directly employed by Lion:  
Hedley Widdup appointed CEO, Craig Smyth retaining the CFO role, Robin Widdup 
appointed Executive Chairman. 

 Strong balance sheet with cash, term deposits and accrued interest of A$57.0M to 
invest in a weakening junior resources market 
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Key Investment Metrics 
Full-Year Ended 31 July 

 2024 
$000’s 

2023 
$000’s 

% 
Change 

Listed investments (at fair value) 24,401 9,691 152 

Unlisted investments (at fair 
value) 7,367 3,410 116 

Total Investments (at fair value) 31,768 13,101 142 

Cash Inflows/Outflows    

Proceeds from investments - 46,705 N/A 

Payments for Investments (17,971) (2,263) 694 
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Lion Selection Group Limited 
ABN 26 077 729 572 

Appendix 4E Preliminary Financial Report  
for the year ended 31 July 2024 

Reporting Period 

Reporting Period 

Current reporting period Year ended 31 July 2024 

Previous corresponding reporting period Year ended 31 July 2023 

 
Results for Announcement to the Market 

Results for Announcement to the Market 

Revenue up 50% to 3,387,000 

Profit (loss) for the year up 91% to 1,107,000 

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to members of the parent up 91% to 1,107,000 

 
Results were extracted from the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2024. 
 
Commentary on the results for the year ended 31 July 2024 is included in the Director’s Report section of the Annual Financial Report 
for the year ended 31 July 2024. 
 
Net Tangible Assets Per Security 

Reporting Period 31 July 2024 31 July 2023 
Post Tax 

Pre-Tax Post -Tax 

Net tangible assets per ordinary security 0.63 0.62 0.63 
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Dividends 

Dividends 

Dividends Date of Payment Total amount of 
dividend 

2023 annual dividend per share  10 November 2023 1.5¢  

Amount per security Amount 
per security 

Franked amount 
per security 

Current Year 1.5¢ - 

Previous Year 3.5¢ - 

Total dividend on all securities 2024 
$’000 

2023 
$’000 

Ordinary Securities 2,117 5,036 

Total 2,117 5,036 

 
Controlled Entities 

Controlled Entities 

During the period the Company held a 100% ownership interest in Lion Selection Asia Limited (deregistered on 26 July 2024).   

Lion is an investment entity for the purposes of AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements, and AASB 2013-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Investment Entities.  Accordingly, the Company 
has applied the exemption from consolidating these entities and carrying these investments at fair value.  
 

 
Associates 

Associates 

Company Current Period 
% Held 

Previous 
Corresponding 

Period 
% Held 

Lion Selection Asia Limited (deregistered on 26 July 2024) - 100 

Plutonic Limited 41.9 48.5 

 
Lion is an investment entity for the purposes of AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements, and AASB 2013-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Investment Entities.  Accordingly, the Company 
has applied the exemption from consolidating these entities and carries these investments at fair value. Similarly, the scope of 
AASB 128 Investments in Associates allows the Company to elect to measure that investment at fair value through profit or loss in 
accordance with AASB 9. 
 
 
 

For more information please refer to the attached Financial Statements. 
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Lion Selection Group Limited 
 
Directors’ Report 
 
The Directors of Lion Selection Group Limited (“Lion” or “the Company”) submit their report on the operations of the Company for 
the financial year ended 31 July 2024.  

At the date of this report Lion had 141,150,775 fully paid ordinary shares on issue. 

Directors 

The following persons were directors of Lion during the financial year and up to the date of this report:  

⮚ Robin Widdup (Director) (Executive Chairman from 1 February 2024) 

⮚ Barry Sullivan (Chairman) (Non-Executive Director from 1 February 2024 to 3 June 2024) 

⮚ Peter Maloney (Non-Executive Director) 

⮚ Chris Melloy (Non-Executive Director) 

Principal Activities 

During the financial year the principal continuing activities of the Company were investment in mining and exploration companies. 

Operating and Financial Review 

This financial report is prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and therefore includes the result of the “mark 
to market” of the Company’s investment portfolio in both the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income and 
the Statement of Financial Position.   

The Company’s profit after tax for the year was $1.1 million (2023: $0.6 million).   
 
Since exiting two large Indonesian investments in 2021 and 2022, Lion’s focus has been on new opportunities in Australia timed to 
take advantage of weak markets for pre-production resource companies considered to be proximal to a cyclical trough.  
Lion has invested heavily during the year, with $17.4 million invested in the portfolio including Saturn Metals (ASX:STN), Plutonic 
Limited (unlisted), Brightstar Resources (ASX:BTR) and Antipa Minerals (ASX: AXY), along with several smaller investments. 

The result for the year reflects a mark to market gain of $0.7 million with respect to investments, with key movements in the 
portfolio value outlined below: 

⮚ A mark to market increase of $2.0 million on Lion’s investment in Saturn Metals benefiting from increasing gold prices 
and the company’s progress on plans for a pilot heap leach plant. 

⮚ Decrease in the value of Lion’s investment in PhosCo of $2.0 million following PhosCo having challenges having its 
Chaketma Phosphate Project lease restored.   

⮚ A mark to market increase of $0.7 million in the valuation of Lion’s investment in Erdene Development Corporation, with 
Erdene commencing development of its Bayan Khundii Gold Project in Mongolia. 

At 31 July 2024 the Company held investments valued at $31.8 million (2023: $13.1 million), and cash and term deposits of 
$55.9 million (2023: $75.0 million). 

Dividends 

On 18 October 20231 Lion Selection Group Limited declared a 1.5¢ps unfranked dividend to shareholders (totalling $2.1 million) 
which was paid on 10 November 2023 (2023: $5.0 million). 

Compliance with Environmental Regulations 

Lion has a policy that environmental impacts of developments of investees are in line with country/international standards and do 
not adversely impact local communities.   

Lion has not been notified by any investee of any environmental breach by any government or other agency, and is not aware of 
any such breach. 

 
1 See ASX Announcement dated 18 October 2023, Lion to pay 1.5¢ps dividend in November 2023 
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Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 

During the period the Company agreed arrangements to directly employ the investment team, and terminating the Management 
Agreement with Lion Manager. Hedley Widdup (Chief Executive Officer) and Craig Smyth (Chief Financial Officer) became direct 
Lion employees on 1 July 2024.  

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company. 

Significant Events after Balance Date 

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any item, transaction or event 
of a material or unusual nature which has or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future periods. 

Proceedings on Behalf of the Company 

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the court under section 237 of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Likely Developments and Future Results 

The Company’s future operating results will depend on the results of its investments.  The Company’s ability to sustain profits is 
dependent on future sales of investments which in turn are dependent on market opportunities and the performance of the 
Company’s various investments, which are difficult to predict. 

There are a wide variety of risks associated with the mining and exploration industry including market conditions, exploration, 
operational and political risk, tenure of tenements, liquidity and native title issues.  Because of the vagaries of the mining and 
exploration industry and the long-term nature of most of Lion’s investments, the directors are unable to predict future results. 

Corporate Governance Statement 

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the directors of Lion support the 
applicable principles of good corporate governance.  The Company’s corporate governance statement can be found in the Investor 
Section of our website www.lionselection.com.au. 

Employees 

At 31 July 2024 there was 5 permanent employees of the Company (2023: 1 employee).   

Remuneration Report 

All disclosures in this remuneration report have been audited.  This remuneration report outlines the director and executive 
remuneration arrangements of the Company as required by section 308 (3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. For the purposes of this 
report, key management personnel of the Company are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the major activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including any director, and includes the 
executive employed by the Company considered to meet the definition of key management personnel. 

Key Management Personnel Remuneration Framework 

Remuneration policy 

The remuneration policy in relation to directors is determined by the full Board.  Remuneration of other key management 
personnel is determined by the directors of the Company.   

The objective of the Company’s remuneration structure is to reward and incentivise key management personnel and employees to 
ensure alignment with the interests of shareholders. The remuneration structure also seeks to reward key management personnel 
and employees for their contribution to the Company in a manner that is appropriate for a company at this stage of its nature and 
size.   

Emoluments of individual Board members and other key management personnel are determined on the basis of market conditions 
and the level of responsibility associated with their position.  Executives and employees receive a base remuneration which is 
market related, and may be entitled to performance based remuneration which is determined on an annual basis.  Overall 
remuneration policies are subject to the discretion of the Board and can be changed to reflect competitive and business conditions 
where it is in the interests of the Company and shareholders to do so.  Executive remuneration and other terms of employment are 
reviewed annually by the Board having regard to the performance, relevant comparative information and expert advice. 

The Board’s remuneration policy reflects its obligation to align executive remuneration with shareholder interests and to retain 
appropriately qualified executive talent for the benefit of the Company. 
  



 

Lion Selection Group Limited – Financial Report 2024 Page 3 

Elements of remuneration 

Fixed annual remuneration 

Key management personnel receive their base pay and statutory benefits structured as a total fixed remuneration package.  

Base pay for key management is reviewed annually to ensure the remuneration is competitive with the market and remains 
appropriate for the Company and its operations.  

There are no guaranteed base pay increases included in any employment contracts. 

Variable remuneration – Short-term incentive arrangements  

During the year, the Company adopted a Short-Term Incentive (STI) Scheme. The objective of the STI is to link the achievement of 
the Group’s short-term performance objectives with the remuneration received by senior management and employees charged 
with achieving those measures. STI payments are dependent on the extent to which performance measures, as set by the Board are 
achieved and are “at risk”.  

No STI payments were made during the year. 

Variable remuneration – Long term incentives 

Performance Rights 

The establishment of an Employee Incentive Plan (the Plan), and the issue of securities under the Plan was approved by 
shareholders at an extraordinary shareholder meeting on 26 June 2024.  During the year, the Company adopted a Long-Term 
Incentive (LTI) Scheme and on 1 July 2024, 2,476,000 performance rights were awarded to key management personnel. See Note 
20 and this Remuneration Report for further details. 

LTI’s are anticipated to be issued annually to eligible employees. 

Contractual arrangements for executive KMP  

The executive remuneration framework is summarised in the table below:  

Component Executive Chairman Chief Executive 
Officer 

Chief Financial 
Officer 

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel 

Fixed Remuneration $230,000 $350,000 $350,000 $135,000 on a full 
time basis 

Short term incentive (STI) None Company may invite the employee to participate at its sole 
discretion 

Long term incentive (LTI) None Company may invite the employee to participate at its sole 
discretion 

Contract duration Ongoing contract Ongoing contract Ongoing contract Ongoing contract 

Notice by the 
individual/company 

6 months/ 3 months 3 months/ 12 months 3 months/ 12 
months 

3 months/ 3 
months 

Other key management personnel receive a base salary and superannuation contributions in accordance with Australian 
superannuation guarantee legislation. 

Non-executive director arrangements 

Directors’ fees are determined within an aggregate directors’ fee pool limit, which is periodically recommended for approval by 
shareholders. As approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 1 December 2011, the maximum aggregate 
amount, including superannuation contribution, that may be paid to non-executive directors of the Company as remuneration for 
their services is $200,000 for any financial year. 

The remuneration policy of the Company with respect to directors and other key management personnel provides for Director’s and 
Officer’s (D&O) Insurance cover, but does not provide options, shares, loans or any other non-monetary benefits. 

Link between remuneration and performance  

Remuneration of executives consists of an un-risked element (base pay), short-term incentives, and long-term incentives 
(performance rights) which vest upon the satisfaction of performance criteria, based on key strategic, market and non-financial 
measures linked to drivers of performance in future reporting periods. The Company did not pay any short-term incentives (e.g. 
cash bonuses) during the year (2023: nil).  
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The Group’s summary key performance information, including earnings and movement in shareholder wealth for the five (5) years 
to 31 July 2024, is included below. 

 Unit 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 

Total income $’000 4,081 3,168 8,382 31 31,861 

Profit/ (Loss) before income tax  $’000 1,486 760 6,152 (2,707) 29,864 

Profit/ (Loss) after income tax $’000 1,107 581 9,031 (5,865) 29,864 

Share price at the start of the financial year Cents per share 44.0 44.5 40.2 43.0 37.8 

Share price at the end of the financial year Cents per share 47.5 43.5 44.0 41.1 43.0 

Basic earnings per share  Cents per share 0.8 0.4 6.0 (3.9) 19.9 

Diluted earnings per share Cents per share 0.8 0.4 6.0 (3.9) 19.9 

Dividend per share Cents per share 1.5 3.5 3.5 - - 

Voting and Comments at the Company’s 2023 Annual General Meeting 

The Company received more than 99% of “yes” votes on its Remuneration Report for the previous financial year.  The Company did 
not receive any specific feedback at the Company’s 2023 Annual General Meeting on its remuneration practices. 

Details of Remuneration 

Details of remuneration paid/payable to directors and the other key management personnel of the Company are detailed in the table 
below.  

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL OF THE COMPANY – REMUNERATION FOR YEAR TO 31 JULY 2024 

 
2024  FIXED REMUNERATION VARIABLE REMUNERATION  

 SALARIES/ 
FEES 

LEAVE 
ENTITLEMENTS# 

POST-
EMPLOYMENT 

SUPERANNUATION 

CASH 
BONUS 

SHARE 
BASED 

PAYMENTS 
TOTAL 

NAME NOTES $ $ $ $  $ 
Directors        
B J K Sullivan (a) 56,306 - 6,194 - - 62,500 

P J Maloney  32,292 - 27,708 - - 60,000 

C Melloy   32,292 - 27,708 - - 60,000 

R A Widdup  (b) 102,500 32,673# 12,500 - - 147,673 

Other Key Management Personnel 

H J Widdup (c) 26,667 68,149# 2,500 - 15,356 112,672 

C K Smyth (c) 26,667 88,347# 2,500 - 15,356 132,870 

J M Rose  90,513 (6,907) 9,987 - - 93,593 

Total  367,237 182,262 89,097 - 30,712 669,308 
 
# Leave entitlements include recognition of provisions for annual and long service leave assumed by Lion in employing the employee directly. 

(a) B J K Sullivan deceased 3 June 2024. 

(b) R A Widdup was employed by Lion Manager Pty Ltd until 31 January 2024 and did not receive any remuneration from the Company. 
On 1 February 2024 R A Widdup was appointed Executive Chairman of Lion Selection Group. Leave entitlements include recognition of provisions 
for annual and long service leave assumed by Lion in employing the employee directly. 

(c) H J Widdup and C K Smyth were employed by Lion Manager Pty Ltd until 30 June 2024 and did not receive any remuneration from the Company.  
On 1 July 2024 H J Widdup was appointed Chief Executive Officer and C K Smyth continued on in his role of Chief Financial Officer of Lion Selection 
Group.  Leave entitlements include recognition of provisions for annual and long service leave assumed by Lion in employing each employee 
directly. 

  



 

Lion Selection Group Limited – Financial Report 2024 Page 5 

2023  FIXED 
REMUNERATION 

VARIABLE 
REMUNERATION  

 SALARIES/ 
FEES 

LEAVE 
ENTITLEMENTS 

POST-
EMPLOYMENT 

SUPERANNUATION 
CASH BONUS TOTAL 

NAME NOTES $ $ $ $ $ 
Directors       
B J K Sullivan  59,175 - 6,242 - 65,417 

P J Maloney  24,167 - 27,500 - 51,667 

C Melloy   24,167 - 27,500 - 51,667 

R A Widdup  (a) - - - - - 

Other Key Management Personnel 

C K Smyth (a) - - - - - 

J M Rose  113,080 (4,631) 11,920 - 120,369 

Total  220,589 (4,631) 73,162 - 289,120 

 
(a) R A Widdup and C K Smyth were employed by Lion Manager Pty Ltd, and did not receive any remuneration from the Company  
 
Both Mr R A Widdup and Mr C K Smyth were executive directors and beneficial owners of Lion Manager Pty Ltd (Lion Manager) and 
have the capacity to significantly influence decision making of that company.  Lion Manager provided management and investment 
services to Lion.   

Prior to 1 July 2024, Lion had a Management Agreement with Lion Manager, under which Lion Manager provided the Company 
with management and investment services.  These arrangements were approved by shareholders at Lion’s AGM on 5 December 
2012, with management fees of 1.5% p.a. based on the direct investments under management.  There was also an incentive 
applicable which would apply where Lion’s performance outperforms a benchmark (no incentive fee had accrued with respect to 
the Lion Manager contract during the year). 

Effective 1 July 2024 the Company and Lion Manager completed an agreement under which the existing Management Agreement 
was terminated and the Company's investment team employed directly by Lion.  Lion also acquired the plant and equipment items 
from Lion Manager and assumed responsibility for employee entitlement for no consideration.   
 
Key Management Personnel Shareholdings 

At the date of this report the direct and indirect interests of the directors and other key management personnel in the ordinary shares 
and options of Lion are detailed below.  No shares or options were issued as remuneration.   
 
SHAREHOLDINGS OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL OF THE COMPANY 
 

NAME 
BALANCE 

1 AUGUST 2023 
SHARES ISSUED 

AS 
REMUNERATION 

CEASING TO BE A 
DIRECTOR 

CLOSING BALANCE 
31 JULY 2024 

Directors     

P J Maloney 2,190,389 - - 2,190,389 

C Melloy 5,800,000 - - 5,800,000 

R A Widdup 16,717,277 - - 16,717,277 

B J K Sullivan* 813,074 - (813,074) - 

Other Key Management Personnel 

H J Widdup 1,174,139 - - 1,174,139 

C K Smyth 1,505,137 - - 1,505,137 

J M Rose - - - - 

Total 28,200,016 - (813,074) 27,386,942 
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NAME 
BALANCE 

1 AUGUST 2022 
SHARES ISSUED 

AS 
REMUNERATION 

ON-MARKET PURCHASE 
OF SHARES 

CLOSING BALANCE 
31 JULY 2023 

Directors     

P J Maloney 2,190,389 -      - 2,190,389 

C Melloy 5,800,000 - - 5,800,000 

R A Widdup 16,717,277 - - 16,717,277 

B J K Sullivan* 813,074 - - 813,074 

Other Key Management Personnel 

C K Smyth 1,505,137  - 1,505,137 

J M Rose - - - - 

Total 27,025,877 - - 27,025,877 

*  B J K Sullivan deceased 3 June 2024 
 
PERFORMANCE SHARES 
Lion issued performance rights to eligible Key Management Personnel under its Long-Term Incentive Plan on 1 July 2024.  Each 
performance right will convert to one ordinary share in the Company during the performance period subject to the satisfaction of 
the performance conditions.  The rights are not transferable. 
 
These rights will constitute a share-based payment transaction for accounting purposes.  Refer Note 20 for further detail. 
 

NAME BALANCE 
1 AUGUST 2023 

PERFORMANCE 
SHARES ISSUED  

CLOSING BALANCE 
31 JULY 2024 

H J Widdup - 1,238,000 1,238,000 

C K Smyth - 1,238,000 1,238,000 

Total - 2,476,000 2,476,000 

 
For the performance rights granted during the current financial year, the key conditions and valuation model inputs used to 
determine the fair value at the grant date, are as follows: 

Grant Date 1 July 2024 

Total number of 
Performance Rights 

2,476,000 

Issue Price Nil 

Measurement Period Grant Date to 31 July 2027 

Exercise Price Nil 

Vesting Date Performance will be measured at the end of each 'Performance Year' during the Measurement Period, 
being 31 July 2025, 31 July 2026 and 31 July 2027.  
Assessment for each Performance Year will be reduced to the extent that shares have been issued in 
previous Performance Years under the same Performance Rights tranche. 
Performance Rights will vest upon the date upon which the relevant Vesting Condition has been 
satisfied, as determined by the Board, provided this occurs prior to the Expiry Date. 

Disposal Restrictions Shares received upon exercise of any vested LTI Performance Rights will be subject to a two-year 
escrow period from the date of exercise. 
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Vesting Conditions TRANCHE 1  
Up to 1,000,000 Performance Rights vest based on share price performance measured based on the 
Company’s highest 30-day volume weighted average price (VWAP) in the Performance Year. 

 VWAP less than 56¢ – Nil Performance Rights vest; 
 VWAP equals 56¢ –500,000 Performance Rights vest; 
 VWAP between 56¢ and 76¢ – pro rata Performance Rights vest between 500,000 and 1,000,000 

Performance Rights. 
 VWAP equals 76¢ or more – 1,000,000 Performance Rights Vest 
Any dividends paid during the Performance Year will added to the current VWAP from the point that 
the Company trades ex-dividend.  
TRANCHE 2  
Up to 1,000,000 Rights vest based on the Company’s portfolio value per share measured based on the 
Company’s highest month-end fair value in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (currently 
referred to as Net Tangible Assets) (Portfolio Value) in the Performance Year: 

 Portfolio Value less than 71¢ – Nil Performance Rights vest; 
 Portfolio Value equals 71¢ –500,000 Performance Rights vest; 
 Portfolio Value between 71¢ and 83¢ – pro rata Performance Rights vest between 500,000 and 

1,000,000 Performance Rights; 
 Portfolio Value equals 83¢ or more – 1,000,000 Performance Rights vest. 
Any dividends paid during the Performance Year will added to the current Portfolio Value from the 
point that the Company trades ex-dividend. 
RETENTION TRANCHE 
Up to 476,000 Performance Rights vest based on continuous service with the Company measured at 
each Performance Year: 

 95,200 Performance Rights Vest on 31 July 2025; 
 95,200 Rights Performance Rights on 31 July 2026; 
 285,600 Performance Rights on 31 July 2027. 

 
Information on Directors 

Robin Widdup BSc (Hons) (Executive Chairman) 

Robin has almost 50 years industry experience spanning work in large mines in Africa, UK and Australia, mining analysis for 
stockbroker J B Were and founding Lion Selection Group in 1997. 

A number of directorships of listed and unlisted mining companies have been held over recent decades covering a variety of 
commodities. 

Robin was appointed Executive Chairman of Lion on 1 February 2024 and previously was a non-executive director of Lion.   

Robin is Chairman of PhosCo Ltd. 

Barry Sullivan BSc (Min), ARSM, FAusIMM, MAICD (Non Executive Director) (Deceased 3 June 2024) 
Barry Sullivan was an experienced and successful mining engineer with a career spanning over 40 years in the mining industry. His 
initial mining experience was gained in the South African gold mining industry, followed by more than 20 years with Mount Isa 
Mines. In the final five years of his tenure with MIM, Barry was Executive General Manager responsible for the extensive Mount Isa 
and Hilton operations. 
Barry was previously Non-Executive Chairman for EganStreet Resources, non-executive Director and Chairman of Exco Resources 
and a non-executive Director of Catalpa Resources, Sedimentary Holdings, Bass Metals and Allegiance Mining. He was also a non-
executive director of Lion's predecessor company, Lion Selection Limited. 
Barry served as Chairman of Lion between December 2011 and January 2024.  Prior to December 2011 and from February 2024 had 
been a non-executive director. Barry was also a member of the Lion Audit Committee.  Barry passed away on 3 June 2024. 

Peter Maloney BComm, MBA (Roch) (Non-Executive Director)  
Peter Maloney has broad commercial, financial and management expertise and experience. He has been Chief Financial Officer of 
Lion and an executive director of Lion Manager.  Prior to that he held senior executive positions with WMC Resources and a 
number of other companies. 

Peter holds a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Melbourne and an MBA from University of Rochester.  He has also 
completed the Advanced Management Program at Harvard Business School.  
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Peter has been a non-executive director of Lion since December 2010, including serving as Chairman between 1 January 2012 and 
24 February 2016.  Peter is also Chairman of the Lion Audit Committee. 

Chris Melloy BE (Mining) (Hons), MEngSc, MAusIMM, F Fin (Non-Executive Director) 

Chris Melloy is a mining engineer with some 40 years’ experience in the mining industry in operations, securities analysis and 
investment.  He held senior positions in MIM and JB Were & Son prior to joining Lion. 

Chris was an Executive Director of Lion Manager from its inception in 1997 through to 2011, becoming a non-executive director of 
Lion on 1 November 2012.   Chris is also a member of the Lion Audit Committee. 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Hedley Widdup Bsc (Hons), MAusIMM (Chief Executive Officer) 

Hedley Widdup graduated as a geologist with first class honours from the University of Melbourne in 2000. Upon finishing his 
degree, Hedley joined WMC Resources as a geologist working at the Mt Keith Nickel Mine. Hedley has extensive experience as a 
mine geologist having worked at Olympic Dam, Mt Isa (Black Star open cut mine) and the St Ives Gold Mine where he was Senior 
Mine Geologist of the combined open pits. Hedley joined the Lion Manager team in July 2007 as an analyst. 

Hedley is a non-executive director of Erdene Resources Development Corporation (TSX.ERD), non-executive Chairman of Plutonic 
Limited (Unlisted), and a member of the Melbourne Mining Club Steering Committee. 

Craig Smyth BCA (Acctg), M App Fin, CA (Chief Financial Officer) 

Craig Smyth graduated from the Victoria University of Wellington with a Bachelor of Commerce and Administration, and has 
completed his Master of Applied Finance at the University of Melbourne. Craig’s financial background includes Coopers & Lybrand, 
Credit Suisse First Boston (London) and ANZ Investment Bank.  Craig is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Australia and New Zealand.  Craig has 19 years resources experience since joining Lion in 2005 as Financial Controller, before 
becoming Chief Financial Officer in 2010.   

Craig is the interim Chief Financial Officer of Lion investee PhosCo Ltd and has represented Lion on the Pani Joint Venture and 
within Nusantara Resources Limited. 

Jane Rose (Investor Relations Manager & Company Secretary) 

Jane Rose commenced work in 1983 as a legal administrative assistant.  During the following 12 years, Jane held senior 
administrative positions with Phillips Fox and Corrs Chambers Westgarth in Melbourne and Nabarro Nathanson in London.  

On returning to Australia, Jane worked as Executive Assistant to the Managing Director of Acacia Resources Limited and AngloGold 
Ashanti Limited where she was also responsible for the management of various corporate initiatives, including marketing and co-
ordination of investor relations activities.  From 2002 to 2006, Jane worked for several Lion investees, including MPI Mines Ltd, 
Leviathan Resources and Indophil Resources.  Jane worked with Lion in early 2007 to assist with the merger, and she subsequently 
joined the company in July 2007 as Corporate Relations Manager. 

In November 2008 Jane was appointed Company Secretary.  

Directors’ Meetings 

During the year and up until the date of this report, the Company held 7 directors’ meetings.  The table below reflects attendances 
of the directors at meetings of Lion’s Board.  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 ATTENDED MAX. POSSIBLE ATTENDED 

P J Maloney 7 7 

R A Widdup 7 7 

B J K Sullivan* 5 5 

C P Melloy 7 7 

*  B J K Sullivan deceased 3 June 2024. 
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Audit Committee Meetings 

During the year and up until the date of this report, the Company held two Audit Committee meetings. 

The table below reflects attendances of the Audit Committee meetings. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 ATTENDED MAX. POSSIBLE ATTENDED 

P J Maloney 2 2 

B J K Sullivan  2 2 

C P Melloy 2 2 

Directors’ Benefits 

Since the end of the preceding financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit, other than benefits 
disclosed in this report as emoluments or the fixed salary of a full time employee of the Company or a related body corporate, by 
reason of a contract made by the Company or related body corporate with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or 
with an entity in which he has a substantial financial interest. 

Indemnification of Directors and Officers 

An indemnity agreement has been entered into between Lion and each of the Company’s directors named earlier in this report and 
with the Company Secretary.  Under the agreement, the Company has agreed to indemnify those officers against any claim or for 
any expenses or costs which may arise as a result of work performed in their respective capacities to the extent permitted by law.  
There is no monetary limit to the extent of this indemnity.   

Lion has paid an insurance premium of $87,154 in respect of a contract insuring each of the directors, previous directors of the 
Company, and other key management personnel, against all liabilities and expenses arising as a result of work performed in their 
respective capacities, to the extent permitted by law.   

Auditor Independence 

We have obtained an independence declaration from our auditors, Nexia Melbourne Audit Pty Ltd, as required under section 307 
of the Corporations Act 2001.  A copy can be found on page 10 of this financial report. 

Non-Audit Services 

No fees for non-audit services were paid/payable to the external auditors during the year ended 31 July 2024.  The directors are 
satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by 
the Corporations Act 2001. 

Rounding of Amounts 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Instrument 2016/191 relating to the 'rounding off' of amounts in the financial report 
and Directors' report.  Amounts in the financial report and Directors' report have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars unless specifically stated to be otherwise. 

This report has been made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 

 
 
 
 
…………………………………………………………………………………..  ....................................................................................................  
R A Widdup          P J Maloney 
Chairman          Director 
Melbourne 

  



Registered Audit Company 291969

Nexia Melbourne Audit Pty Ltd (ABN 86 005 105 975) is a firm of Chartered Accountants. It is affiliated with, but independent from Nexia Australia Pty Ltd. Nexia 
Australia Pty Ltd is a member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent accounting and consulting firms. For more information please see 
www.nexia.com. au/legal. Neither Nexia International nor Nexia Australia Pty Ltd provide services to clients.

Liability limited under a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Australia
Level 35, 600 Bourke St

Melbourne VIC 3000 
E: info@nexiamelbourne.com.au

P: +61 3 8613 8888
F: +61 3 8613 8800 
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Nexia Melbourne Audit Pty Ltd 

 

 
 

 
 
Auditor's Independence Declaration under section 307C of the 
Corporations Act 2001 
 
To the Directors of Lion Selection Group Limited 
 
As lead partner for the audit of the financial statements of Lion Selected Group Limited for the 
financial year ended 31 July 2024, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 
been no contraventions of: 
 
a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
 
b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
 

       
Nexia Melbourne Audit Pty Ltd Richard Cen
Melbourne Director
 
 
Dated this 12th day of September 2024 
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Lion Selection Group Limited 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the 
Year ended 31 July 2024 

 NOTES 2024 
$’000 

2023 
$’000 

Gain/(loss) attributable to movement in fair value 4 694 904 

Interest income  3,322 2,195 

Other income  65 69 

Management fees  (1,305) (1,521) 

Employee benefits 4 (733) (289) 

Other expenses 4 (557) (598) 

Profit/(loss) before income tax  1,486 760 

Income tax (expense)/benefit 5 (379) (179) 

Net profit/(loss) after tax  1,107 581 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  1,107 581 

Attributable to:    

Members  1,107 581 

  Cents per share Cents per share 

Basic earnings/(loss) per share  0.8 0.4 

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share  0.8 0.4 

 
The above statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Lion Selection Group Limited 
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 July 2024 

 NOTES 2024 
$’000 

2023 
$’000 

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 13 11,640 7,534 

Term deposits 3 44,240 67,500 

Trade receivables and other assets 6 1,214 1,169 

Total current assets  57,094 76,203 

Non-Current Assets    

Financial assets 7 31,768 13,101 

Property, plant and equipment 8 203 296 

Total non-current assets  31,971 13,397 

Total Assets  89,065 89,600 

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 9 95 75 

Tax payable  57 - 

Employee Entitlements  250 21 

Lease liabilities  97 89 

Total current liabilities  499 185 

Non-Current Liabilities    

Lease liabilities  123 220 

Deferred tax liabilities 5 (b) 447 220 

Total non-current liabilities  570 440 

Total Liabilities  1,069 625 

Net Assets  87,996 88,975 

Equity    

Contributed equity 11 121,900 121,900 

Reserves 12 31 1,341 

Accumulated losses 10 (33,935) (34,266) 

Total Equity  87,996 88,975 
 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Lion Selection Group Limited 
Statement of Cash Flows for the Year ended 31 July 2024 

 NOTES 2024 
$’000 

2023 
$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Interest received  3,261 1,129 

Other income received  65 69 

Payments to suppliers and employees (including GST)  (2,193) (2,316) 

Interest paid  (14) (17) 

Income tax paid  (96) (238) 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities  13(b) 1,023 (1,373) 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for investments  (17,971) (2,263) 

Funds placed on term deposit  23,260 (47,500) 

Proceeds from investments  - 46,705 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities  5,289 (3,058) 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Dividends paid  (2,117) (5,036) 

On-market share buy-back  - (3,537) 

Payments for lease liability  (89) (81) 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities  (2,206) (8,654) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   4,106 (13,085) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  7,534 20,619 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year  11,640 7,534 

 
The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Lion Selection Group Limited 
Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year ended 31 July 2024 
 

 
ISSUED 

CAPITAL 
$’000 

RESERVES 
 

$’000 

ACCUMULATED 
LOSSES 
$’000 

TOTAL 
$’000 

Balance at 1 August 2023 121,900 1,341 (34,266) 88,975 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) - - 1,107 1,107 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners     

Dividends paid - - (2,117) (2,117) 

Transfer from Share Based Payments Reserve 
– Expiry of Options unexercised - (1,341) 1,341 - 

Issue of performance rights - 31 - 31 

Balance at 31 July 2024 121,900 31 (33,935) 87,996 

 
 

 
ISSUED 

CAPITAL 
$’000 

RESERVES 
 

$’000 

ACCUMULATED 
LOSSES 
$’000 

TOTAL 
$’000 

Balance at 1 August 2022 125,404 1,341 (29,811) 96,934 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) - - 581 581 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners     

Dividends paid - - (5,036) (5,036) 

Share buy-back (3,504) - - (3,504) 

Balance at 31 July 2023 121,900 1,341 (34,266) 88,975 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Lion Selection Group Limited 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 31 July 2024 
 

NOTE 1. CORPORATE INFORMATION  

The financial report of Lion Selection Group Limited (“Lion” or “the Company”) for the year ended 31 July 2024 was 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 11 September 2024.  The directors have the 
power to amend and reissue the financial report. 

Lion is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia.  The nature of the operations and principal activities of the 
Company are described in the Directors’ Report. The registered address of Lion is Level 2, 175 Flinders Lane, Melbourne. 

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below.  These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  Comparative information is reclassified 
where appropriate to enhance comparability. 

(a) Basis of preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.  Lion is a for-profit 
entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.   

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards. The financial report also complies with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).   

The financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and financial liabilities 
that have been measured at fair value. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000) 
unless otherwise stated under the option available to Lion under ASIC Instrument 2016/191. Lion is an entity to which the 
class order applies. 

Lion meets the qualifying criteria under AASB 10 of an "investment entity", and entities controlled by Lion do not provide 
investment related services to the Company.  Accordingly, the Company has applied the exemption from consolidating 
these entities and continues to carry these investments at fair value. 

(b) New accounting standards and interpretations 

New standards 

The Company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. Any new or amended 
Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.  

Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 
 
There are no standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the entity in 
the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 

(c) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of future 
events. The key estimates and assumptions that have an impact on the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities 
are: 

(i)  Fair value of investments and other financial assets 

The Company carries its investments at fair value with changes in the fair values recognised in profit or loss.  
The fair value of investments and other financial assets that are not traded in an active market is determined 
based on either a recent sale price, or where not available, the market value of underlying investments.  
Determination of market value involves the Company’s judgment to select a variety of methods and in making 
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date.  The key 
assumptions used in this determination are set out in note 2(j). 

  



 

Lion Selection Group Limited – Financial Report 2024 Page 16 

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(ii) Income taxes 

Lion is subject to income taxes in Australia. Judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes 
and deferred taxes. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of 
business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Lion recognises liabilities for anticipated tax 
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and 
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that sufficient future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and 
losses. This involves judgment regarding the future financial performance and is therefore inherently uncertain. 
To the extent assumptions regarding future profitability change, there can be an increase or decrease in the 
level of deferred tax assets recognised which can result in a charge or credit in the period in which the change 
occurs. 

(d) Other income 

Other income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to Lion and the other 
income can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before other income is 
recognised: 

(i) Interest 

Income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective 
interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset to the fair value of the financial asset. 

(ii) Dividends 

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment is established. 

(e) Cash, cash equivalents and term deposits 

For cash flow statement purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial 
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less or that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank 
overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.  Other short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of more than three months are shown within term deposits on the 
balance sheet. 

(f) Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days and therefore are all classified as current. Trade 
receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less loss allowance.  

The Company applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance for all trade receivables. The Company recognises a provision based on historical default rates, debtor 
analysis and the Company's monitoring of credit risk. Trade and other receivables are written off when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery. 

(g) Foreign currency translation 

Both the functional and presentation currency of Lion is Australian dollars (AUD). 

Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in profit or loss, except when they are deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net 
investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation. 

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value was determined.  Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are 
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.  For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities 
such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or 
loss. 
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(h) Income tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 

⮚ when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

⮚ when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in 
joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 

⮚ when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

⮚ when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in 
joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset 
to be utilised. 

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that 
it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity as part of other comprehensive 
income. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the 
same taxation authority. 

(i) Other taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

⮚ when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as 
applicable; and 

⮚ receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.  
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as 
operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 

(j) Investments, other financial assets and investments in associates 

The Company classifies its financial assets into the following categories:  

⮚ those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss); and 

⮚ those to be held at amortised cost. 

The classification depends on the business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash 
flows.   

Lion is a venture capital organisation and designates its investments as being fair value through profit or loss. The scope 
of AASB 128 Investments in Associates allows the Company to elect to measure that investment at fair value through 
profit or loss in accordance with AASB 9. After initial recognition, investments are measured at fair value, with gains or 
losses on fair value of investments being recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 
The fair value of assets is re-measured at each reporting date.  This recognition is more relevant to shareholders and 
consistent with internal investment evaluation. 

The fair value of financial assets traded in active markets is based on their quoted market prices at the end of the 
reporting period without any deduction for estimated future selling costs. The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by the Company is the current bid price. 

The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in an active market are determined using valuation techniques. The 
Company uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each 
reporting date. Valuation techniques used include the use of comparable recent arm’s length transactions, reference to 
other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and other 
valuation techniques commonly used by market participants making the maximum use of market inputs and relying as 
little as possible on entity-specific inputs.  

All regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date (i.e. the date that the Company 
commits to purchase the asset). Regular purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under contracts that 
require delivery of the assets within the period established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 

Investments in controlled entities 

During the period the Company held a 100% ownership interest in Lion Selection Asia Limited (deregistered on 26 July 
2024).  Lion is an investment entity for the purposes of AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 127 Separate 
Financial Statements, and AASB 2013-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Investment Entities.   

AASB 2013-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Investment Entities is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 August 2014, exempting ‘Investment entities” from consolidating controlled investees.  
Investment entities are entities that: 

(a) obtain funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investors with investment 
management services; 

(b) commit to their investor(s) that their business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital 
appreciation, investment income or both; and 

(c) measure and evaluate the performance of substantially all of their investments on a fair value basis. 

(k) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 

(i) Financial assets  

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 
have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

(ii) Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(l) Leases 

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are established on the balance sheet for leases with an expected term greater than 
one year. The lease term is equal to the base contractual term and, where material, is adjusted for renewal or 
termination options that are reasonably certain to be exercised. Leases are recognised when the leased asset is available 
for use by the Company. Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. 

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the outstanding lease payments, which mainly comprise fixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments) and variable lease payments that are based on an index or rate, plus if applicable 
any residual value guarantees, purchase options and termination payments less any lease incentive receivable. When 
material adjustments to variable lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and 
adjusted against the right of use asset. The portion of fixed payments related to service costs is included in the calculation 
of lease liabilities. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be 
readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Company, the Company's incremental borrowing rate is 
used, being the rate that the entity would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to 
the right-of-use asset in a similar environment with similar terms, security and conditions. The lease liability is 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Each lease payment is allocated between 
the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date and any lease incentive received. Initial direct costs incurred are 
not considered to be significant and have been excluded from measurement of the right-of-use asset. The right-of-use 
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight line basis. 

Payments associated with short term leases (i.e. lease with a term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets are 
charged to expenditure as incurred over the duration of the lease. Variable payments under these lease agreements are 
not significant.  

(m) Impairment of assets 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets 
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's 
carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). 

(n) Borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income over the period of the borrowings using 
the effective interest method.  

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or 
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in 
profit or loss as other income or finance costs. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless Lion has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

(o) Payables 

Payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.  Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial 
year that are unpaid and arise when the Company becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase 
of these goods and services.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

(p) Provisions and contingencies 

Provisions are recognised when Lion has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

When Lion expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense 
relating to any provision is presented in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income net of any 
reimbursement. 
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the 
risks specific to the liability.  When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as an interest expense. 

A contingent liability is disclosed when the Company has a: 

(i) possible obligation arising from past events where it has yet to be confirmed whether the entity has a present 
obligation that could lead to an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits; or 

(ii) present obligation that does not meet the recognition criteria of a provision (because either it is not probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, or a 
sufficiently reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation cannot be made). 

(q) Employee benefits 

Wages, salaries, annual leave and long service leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave that are expected 
to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services 
up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or 
payable. 

The liability for long service leave for which Lion has an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months 
after the balance sheet date is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the 
projected unit credit method.   

Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service.  Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on corporate bonds with 
terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Share-based payments 

Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees. 

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, performance rights or options over shares, that are provided to 
employees in exchange for the rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of 
services, where the amount of cash is determined by reference to the share price. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is determined using the Monte 
Carlo, Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model as appropriate, taking into account the exercise price, the term of 
the instrument, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, 
the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine 
whether the Company receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any 
other vesting conditions. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the 
vesting period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the 
best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount 
recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts 
already recognised in previous periods. 

The cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined using the Monte 
Carlo, Binomial or Black-Scholes option pricing model as appropriate, taking into consideration the terms and conditions 
on which the award was granted. The cumulative charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is calculated as 
follows: 

• during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at 
that date multiplied by the expired portion of the vesting period. 

• from the end of the vesting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair 
value of the liability at the reporting date. 

All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss. The ultimate cost of cash-settled transactions is the cash paid to 
settle the liability. 

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market 
conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other 
conditions are satisfied. 
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. 
An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair 
value of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification. 

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Company or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is 
treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Company or employee and is not satisfied during 
the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the 
award is forfeited. 

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining 
expense is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled and 
new award is treated as if they were a modification. 

(r) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, for example, as a result of a share buy-back, those instruments are 
deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled.  No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss and the 
consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is recognised directly in 
equity. 

(s) Dividends 

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the 
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting 
period. 

(t) Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit after tax, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than 
dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit, adjusted for: 

⮚ costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends; 

⮚ the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been 
recognised as expenses; and 

⮚ other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of 
potential ordinary shares, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential 
ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 

(u) Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker.  The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the segments, has been identified as the Board.    

Investments have similar characteristics and so segments are determined on a geographical basis.  Lion invests only in 
small and medium mining and exploration companies with gold and base metal activities in Australia, Africa and Asia. 

  



 

Lion Selection Group Limited – Financial Report 2024 Page 22 

NOTE 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Lion’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk.  Lion’s overall risk management program is carried out under policies approved by the Board of 
Directors, focuses on the unpredictability of the financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the Company.  The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as 
policies covering specific areas.  The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are 
summarised below.  Lion also monitors the market price risk arising from all financial instruments. 

Lion holds the following financial instruments: 
 2024 

$’000 
2023 
$’000 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 11,640 7,534 

Term deposits 44,240 67,500 

Financial Assets 31,768 13,101 

Trade receivables and other assets 1,214 1,169 

 88,862 89,304 

Financial liabilities   

Trade and other payables 95 75 

 95 75 

(a) Market risk 

(i) Price risk 

Lion is exposed to equity securities price risk, with many of the Company’s equity investments being publicly 
traded.  This arises from investments held by Lion and classified on the balance sheet as fair value through profit 
or loss.   

To manage its price risk, including exposure to changes in commodity prices arising from investments in equity 
securities, the Company diversifies its portfolio.  Diversification by way of different commodities and locations 
of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Company, however from time to time the 
Company may seek to increase exposure to particular investments.  Lion does not hedge its equities securities 
price risk.  Based on the financial instruments held at the end of the period, if the value of equity securities had 
increased by 10%/decreased by 10% with all other variables held constant, the Company’s post-tax profit for 
the year would have been $3,171,600 higher/lower (2023: $1,310,000 higher/lower) as a result of gains/losses 
on equity securities classified as fair value through profit or loss. 

(ii) Interest rate risk exposures 

Lion is exposed to interest rate risk through its primary financial assets.  The interest rate risk exposures 
together with the effective interest rate for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities at balance date 
are summarised below.  Most assets and liabilities are current, maturing within one year, with the exception of 
investments in securities, the value of which will be realised at the discretion of the Company.   

 

2024 

FLOATING 
INTEREST 

RATE 
$’000 

FIXED 
INTEREST 

RATE 
$’000 

NON 
INTEREST 
BEARING 

$’000 

TOTAL 
$’000 

AVERAGE INTEREST RATE 

FLOATING % FIXED % 

Financial Assets       

Cash – AUD 11,625 - - 11,625 5.0 - 

Cash – USD 15 - - 15 - - 

Term deposits  - 44,240 - 44,240 - 4.0 

Investments in securities - - 31,716 31,716 - - 

Convertible securities - 52  52 10.0 - 

Financial Liabilities       

Trade and other payables - - 95 95 - - 
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NOTE 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

2023 

FLOATING 
INTEREST 

RATE 
$’000 

FIXED 
INTERES
T RATE 
$’000 

NON 
INTEREST 
BEARING 

$’000 

TOTAL 
$’000 

AVERAGE INTEREST RATE 

FLOATING % FIXED % 

Financial Assets       

Cash – AUD 7,520 - - 7,520 3.1 - 

Cash – USD 14 - - 14 - - 

Term deposits  - 67,500 - 67,500 - 4.1 

Investments in securities - - 13,101 13,101 - - 

Financial Liabilities       

Trade and other payables - - 75 75 - - 

(b) Credit risk 

Lion is exposed to credit risk.  Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks as well as credit 
exposures to counterparties, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions.  Lion has a policy of 
maintaining its cash and cash equivalents with the “top 4” Australian Banks.  For other counterparties, if there is no 
independent rating, management assesses the credit quality of the party, taking into account its financial position, past 
experience and other factors.  The maximum exposure to credit risk approximates the carrying values as disclosed above. 

Based on historical default rates, debtor analysis and the Group's monitoring of credit risk, no impairment allowance is 
considered necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due. 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the ability to close 
out market positions.  Lion manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching 
the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.   

(d) Fair value measurements 

The Company carries its investments at fair value with changes in value recognised in profit or loss.   

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value 
measurement hierarchy: 

(a) Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

(b) Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

(c) Level 3:  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded securities) is based on quoted 
market prices at the reporting date. 

Recognised fair value measurements 

The following tables present the Company’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value for the periods 
ended 31 July 2024 and 31 July 2023. 

 LEVEL 1 
$’000 

LEVEL 2 
$’000 

LEVEL 3 
$’000 

TOTAL 
$’000 

At 31 July 2024     

Assets     

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

Investments 24,401 7,367 - 31,768 

Total Assets 24,401 7,367 - 31,768 
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NOTE 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 LEVEL 1 
$’000 

LEVEL 2 
$’000 

LEVEL 3 
$’000 

TOTAL 
$’000 

At 31 July 2023     

Assets     

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss     

Investments 9,691 3,410 - 13,101 

Total Assets 9,691 3,410 - 13,101 

Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 and level 3 fair values 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, unlisted investments) is 
determined using valuation techniques.  These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it 
is available and rely as little as possible on unobservable inputs.  If all significant inputs required to fair value an 
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. 

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.  

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments are applied in accordance with the International Private 
Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines, including: 

▪ Net assets, looking through to the underlying assets held through interposed investment vehicles. 

▪ The fair value of unlisted option contracts is determined using a Black Scholes valuation at the reporting date. 

▪ The use of quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments where available. 

▪ Other techniques, such as Monte Carlo option-pricing models and discounted cash flow analysis, are used to 
determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. 

The price of a recent investment conducted in an orderly transaction between market participants generally represents 
fair value as of the transaction date. At subsequent measurement dates, the price of a recent investment may be an 
appropriate reference point for estimating fair value subject to the current facts and circumstances including changes in 
market conditions or changes in the performance of the investee company that would impact a market participant’s 
perspective of fair value. 

Valuation processes 

The Lion management team performs monthly valuations of the financial instruments required for financial reporting 
purposes, including level 3 fair values.  This team reports directly to the Lion Board.  Discussions of valuation processes 
and results are held between Lion management and the Lion Board at least once every six months in line with Lion’s half-
yearly reporting dates, including changes in level 2 and 3 fair values. 

NOTE 4 INCOME AND EXPENSES 

 
2024 

$’000 
2023 
$’000 

Gain/(loss) attributable to movement in fair value of investments   

Mark to Market adjustment for year – investments realised during year - (140) 

Mark to Market adjustment for year – deferred consideration - 2,568 

Mark to Market adjustment for year – investments held at end of year 694 (1,524) 

Gain/(loss) attributable to movement in fair value of investments as recorded in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

694 904 

Lion is a long term investor and investment performance generally spans a number of financial periods.  Measured on historic cost, 
gross profit/(loss) on investments realised during the year includes mark to market adjustments realised in the current year as well 
as mark to market adjustments recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in prior years as set 
out in the table below.   

Results of investments realised during year   

Proceeds from sale of shares - 87 

Historical cost of investment sales - (4,049) 

Gross profit/(loss) measured at historical cost on investments realised - (3,962) 
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NOTE 4 INCOME AND EXPENSES (continued) 

Results of investments realised during year 2024 
$’000 

2023 
$’000 

Represented by:   

Mark to Market recognised in prior periods (including on acquisition) - (3,822) 

Mark to Market recognised in current year - (140) 

 - (3,962) 

Employment Expenses   

Salaries, Superannuation and Directors Fees 473 294 

Leave provided 229 (5) 

Share based shares expense 31 - 

Total other expenses 733 289 
 
The total profit/(loss) is after charging the following other expenses   

Investor relations 119 103 
Directors and Officers insurance 95 93 
Legal expenses 23 38 
Depreciation 94 96 
Corporate overheads 226 268 

Total other expenses 557 598 

NOTE 5 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

(a) Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income   

Current income tax expense/(benefit) 100 (299) 

Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) 226 478 

Under/over tax expense/(benefit) 53 - 

Income tax expense/(benefit) reported in the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income 

379 179 

   

Reconciliation of income tax expense     

Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before income tax 1,486 760 

Prima facie tax thereon at 30% 446 228 

Tax effect of permanent and temporary differences:   

Other non-deductible or non-assessable amounts 2 (21) 

Assessable income brought to revenue account 200 311 

Tax losses utilised – revenue account  (322) (339) 

Under/Over tax expense 53 - 

Total income tax (expense/(benefit) 379 179 

 

(b) Deferred tax liabilities   

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:   

Unrealised investments – revenue account 1,042 634 

Accrued interest income 342 324 

Other temporary differences 7 7 

 1,391 965 
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Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to set-off provisions   

Tax losses available – revenue account (852) (719) 

Other temporary differences (92) (26) 

Net deferred tax liabilities 447 220 

 

NOTE 5 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 

(c) Unrecognised temporary differences 

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as the benefits will only be realised if 
the conditions for deductibility and/or recognition set out in Note 2(h) occur.  

  2024 
$’000 

2023 
$’000 

Unrecognised temporary differences at 31 July relate to the 
following: 

   

Tax losses available – revenue account  53,176 55,653 

Unrecognised tax losses and temporary differences at 31 July  53,176 55,653 

Potential tax benefit at 30%  15,953 16,696 

 

NOTE 6 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS 

Interest Receivable 1,140 1,082 

Prepayments 35 34 

Security deposits 36 35 

Sundry debtors 3 18 

Total trade receivables and other assets, net 1,214 1,169 

 

NOTE 7 FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Listed investments (at fair value) 24,401 9,691 

Unlisted investments (at fair value) 7,367 3,410 

Total financial assets 31,768 13,101 

 
Listed shares are readily saleable with no fixed terms.  

 

NOTE 8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant, and equipment – Cost 506 506 

Accumulated depreciation (303) (210) 

Total property, plant and equipment 203 296 

 

NOTE 9 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Sundry creditors and accruals 95 75 

Total trade and other payables 95 75 
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NOTE 10 ACCUMULATED LOSSES 

Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:   

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (34,266) (29,811) 

Net profit/(loss) for period 1,107 581 

Transfer from Share Based Payments Reserve – Expiry of Options Unexercised 1,341 - 

Dividends paid (2,117) (5,036) 

Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (33,935) (34,266) 

NOTE 11 CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

 2024 
$’000 

2023 
$’000 

Issued and paid up capital (fully paid)   

Opening balance 121,900 125,404 

Share buy-back - (3,504) 

Issued and paid up capital (fully paid) 121,900 121,900 

 

Share capital 
2024 

SHARES 
2023 

SHARES 

Issued and paid up capital (fully paid)   

Opening balance 141,150,775 148,406,526 

Share buy-back - (7,255,751) 

Issued and paid up capital (fully paid) 141,150,775 141,150,775 

Capital Risk Management 
Lion’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide 
returns for shareholders.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, Lion may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. 

NOTE 12 SHARE BASED PAYMENT RESERVE 

 2024 
$’000 

2023 
$’000 

Opening balance 1,341 1,341 

Transfer to Retained Earnings – Options expired unexercised# (1,341) - 

Share based payments – Performance Rights (refer Note 20) 31 - 

Share Based Payment Reserve 31 1,341 

# The reserve balance relates to historical options that were issued under the terms of Lion's acquisition of One Asia Resources 
Limited's interest in the Pani gold project.  These options expired on 12 April 2020. 

NOTE 13 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash on hand and in banks, term deposits, cash managed by third parties and other bank securities which can be liquidated 
at short notice (less than three months), net of outstanding bank overdrafts if applicable. 

Cash at the end of the year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related item in the Statement of 
Financial Position as follows: 

Cash on hand and at bank 11,640 7,534 
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NOTE 13 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued) 

(b) Reconciliation of net profit/(loss) after income tax to net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities   

 2024 
$’000 

2023 
$’000 

Net profit/(loss) after income tax 1,107 581 

Adjustments for non-cash income and expense items:   

Movement in fair value of investments (increase)/decrease in assets (694) (904) 

Other non-cash (income)/expenses 123 98 

Decrease/(increase) in assets:   

Other receivables (45) (1,067) 

(Decrease)/increase in liabilities:   

Current income tax liabilities 57 (237) 

Deferred tax liabilities 226 178 

Payables 249 (22) 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 1,023 (1,373) 
 
NOTE 14 EARNINGS PER SHARE 

(a) Profit/(loss) used in calculating earnings per share 1,107 581 

 
 

2024 
NUMBER 

2023 
NUMBER 

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 141,150,775 143,699,115 

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share 141,361,065 143,699,115 

The 2,476,000 Performance Rights granted on 1 July 2024 under the Employee Incentive Plan are considered to be potential 
ordinary shares.  They have been included from the date of issue in the determination of diluted earnings per share as if the 
required hurdles would have been met at the reporting date.  The Performance Rights have not been included in the 
determination of basic earnings per share as the vesting conditions have not been met.  Details relating to the Performance Rights 
are set out in Note 20. 

NOTE 15 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Superannuation commitments 

Lion does not have its own superannuation plan.  The only commitment to superannuation is with respect to statutory 
commitments.  At balance date, the Company was contributing to various approved superannuation funds at the choice of 
employees at a minimum rate of 11.5% of salaries paid.  Employees are able to make additional contributions to their chosen 
superannuation funds by way of salary sacrifice up to the age based deductible limits for taxation purposes. 

Contingent liabilities 

Lion has a potential liability for contingent consideration that may be payable if Lion sells its investment in either PhosCo (formerly 
Celamin) or Atlantic Tin (formerly Kasbah).  This obligation arises following Lion agreeing to purchase the shares it did not own in 
African Lion 3 Ltd (AFL3) to consolidate ownership (with the exception of Lion Manager who opted to hold its investment).  The 
transaction involved part cash consideration and Lion agreeing to pay contingent consideration to be paid in certain circumstances 
for up to 5 years until March 2026.  The value of the contingent consideration decreases annually and depends on the ultimate exit 
price for PhosCo and/or Atlantic Tin, how long Lion holds the investments, and how much additional investment is required.  The 
decision to sell the investments in PhosCo and Atlantic Tin is entirely at Lion’s discretion. 

Based on a theoretical sale at the carrying value for both investments at 31 July 2024, contingent consideration of $1.0M would 
arise. 
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NOTE 16 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

 2024 
$ 

2023 
$ 

(a) Audit services   

Audit and review of financial reports    

    PricewaterhouseCoopers 5,253 122,200 

    Nexia Melbourne Audit Pty Ltd 64,252 - 

Total remuneration for audit services 69,505 122,200 

(b) Non-audit services 

No fees for non-audit services were paid/payable to the external auditors during the year ended 31 July 2024 (2023: Nil). 

NOTE 17 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

(a) Directors and Key Management Personnel 

The directors and key management personnel in office during the financial year and up until the date of this report are as 
follows: 

Barry Sullivan (Non-Executive Chairman until 31 January 2024, Non-Executive Director from 1 February 2024) 
(Deceased 3 June 2024) 
Robin Widdup (Director, Executive Chairman from 1 February 2024) 
Peter Maloney (Non-Executive Director) 
Chris Melloy (Non-Executive Director)  
Hedley Widdup (Chief Executive Officer from 1 July 2024) 
Craig Smyth (Chief Financial Officer) 
Jane Rose (Company Secretary) 

(b) Subsidiaries and Associates 

Lion meets the qualifying criteria under AASB 10 of an "investment entity", and entities controlled by Lion do not provide 
investment related services to the Company.  Accordingly, the Company has applied the exemption from consolidating 
these entities and continues to carry these investments at fair value.  Similarly, the scope of AASB 128 Investments in 
Associates allows the Company to elect to measure that investment at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with 
AASB 9.  

Transactions with controlled entities: 

Lion Selection Asia Limited (100% ownership interest) 

During 2023, the Company received net funds from Lion Selection Asia Limited of US$32,622,411 (A$46,604,787).  During 
the year the process to wind up Lion Selection Asia commenced, with the company deregistered on 26 July 2024. 

Lion Selection Asia Limited was registered in Hong Kong, was a body corporate, and was tax resident in Australia. 

African Lion 3 Limited (99% ownership interest) 

In March 2021, Lion agreed to purchase the shares it did not own in AFL3 to consolidate ownership (with the exception of 
Lion Manager who opted to hold its investment). The transaction involved the payment of $392,000 in cash consideration 
to the other AFL3 Shareholders, with all AFL3 investments distributed in specie to Lion and Lion Manager on a pro rata 
basis.  Lion also agreed for contingent consideration to be paid in certain circumstances for up to 5 years.  Refer to Note 15 
Commitments and Contingent Liabilities for further details.  African Lion 3 Limited was wound up in 2023. 

(c) Key Management Personnel Remuneration 2024 
$ 

2023 
$ 

Short term employee benefits 367,237 220,589 

Leave entitlements 182,262 (4,631) 

Post-employment benefits 89,097 73,162 

Share based payments 30,712 - 

 669,308 289,120 
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NOTE 17 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 

(d) Lion Manager Contract 

Prior to 1 July 2024, Lion had a Management Agreement with Lion Manager, under which Lion Manager provided the 
Company with management and investment services.  These arrangements were approved by shareholders at Lion’s AGM 
on 5 December 2012, with management fees of 1.5% p.a. based on the direct investments under management.  There was 
also an incentive applicable which would apply where Lion’s performance outperforms a benchmark (no incentive fee had 
accrued with respect to the Lion Manager contract during the year). 

Effective 1 July 2024 the Company and Lion Manager completed an agreement under which the existing Management 
Agreement was terminated and the Company's investment team employed directly by Lion.  Lion also acquired the plant 
and equipment items from Lion Manager and assumed responsibility for employee entitlement for no consideration.   

NOTE 18 MATERIAL INVESTMENTS 

 CARRYING AMOUNT ENTITY OWNERSHIP 

The Company had direct and indirect ownership of the 
following material investments at year end: 

2024 
$’000 

2023 
$’000 

2024 
% 

2023 
% 

Saturn Metals 10,046 - 19 - 

Plutonic Limited 4,800 1,000 42 32 

Antipa Minerals 2,200 - 4 - 

Brightstar Resources 2,143 - 3 - 

Erdene Resource Development 5,920 5,228 4 4 

Atlantic Tin 2,013 2,013 4 4 

PhosCo Ltd 1,096 3,126 15 15 

Lion Selection Asia (deregistered on 26 July 2024) - - - 100 

Each of the above companies is involved in the mining and exploration industry. 

NOTE 19 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Management has determined the Company’s segments based on the internal reporting reviewed by the Board to make strategic 
decisions.  The Company provides patient equity capital to carefully selected small and medium mining enterprises.  Investments 
have similar characteristics and so segments are determined on a geographical basis.  Lion invests only in mining and exploration 
companies and projects with gold and base metal activities in Australia, Africa, and Asia.  Information with respect to geographical 
segments is set out below. 
 

2024 

AUSTRALIA LEGACY INVESTMENTS 
TOTAL 
$’000 INVESTMENT 

$’000 
CORPORATE 

$’000 
AFRICA 

$’000 
ASIA 

$’000 

Mark to Market adjustment 2,032 - (2,030) 692 694 

Segment Income 2,032 3,385 (2,030) 694 4,081 

Segment Expense - (2,595) - - (2,595) 

Segment Result Before Tax 2,032 790 (2,030) 694 1,486 

Segment assets 22,361 57,297 3,110 6,297 89,065 

Segment liabilities - 1,069 - - 1,069 

Other Segment Information      

Assets acquired during the period 17,921 - - 50 17,971 

Cash Flow Information      

Net cash flow from operating activities - 1,023 - - 1,023 

Net cash flow from investing activities (17,921) 23,260 - (50) 5,289 

Net cash flow from financing activities - (2,206) - - (2,206) 
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NOTE 19 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 
 

2023 

AUSTRALIA LEGACY INVESTMENTS 
TOTAL 
$’000 INVESTMENT 

$’000 
CORPORATE 

$’000 
AFRICA 

$’000 
ASIA 

$’000 

Mark to Market adjustment (47) - (2,558) 3,509 904 

Segment Income (47) 2,264 (2,558) 3,509 3,168 

Segment Expense - (2,408) - - (2,408) 

Segment Result Before Tax (47) (144) (2,558) 3,509 760 

Segment assets 2,408 76,499 5,140 5,553 89,600 

Segment liabilities - 625 - - 625 

Other Segment Information      

Assets acquired during the period 2,250 - - 13 2,263 

Cash Flow Information      

Net cash flow from operating activities - (1,373) - - (1,373) 

Net cash flow from investing activities (2,250) (47,500) - 46,692 (3,058) 

Net cash flow from financing activities - (8,654) - - (8,654) 
 

NOTE 20 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

(a) Performance rights 
The establishment of an Employee Incentive Plan (the Plan), and the issue of securities under the Plan was approved by 
shareholders at an extraordinary shareholder meeting on 26 June 2024.  The Plan aims to drive long term performance for 
shareholders, a culture of employee share ownership in the Company and retention of executives. 
The Plan allows the Board to grant performance rights as well as other equity instruments to eligible employees. 
During the period ended 31 July 2024, 2,476,000 performance rights over fully paid ordinary shares in the Company were granted 
to employees of the Company.  These performance rights have a number of performance hurdles and service conditions, the 
successful achievement of which enables the holder to exercise their performance rights. 
For the performance rights granted during the current financial year, the key conditions and valuation model inputs used to 
determine the fair value at the grant date, are as follows: 

Grant Date 1 July 2024 

Total number of 
Performance Rights 

2,476,000 

Issue Price Nil 

Measurement Period Grant Date to 31 July 2027 

Exercise Price Nil 

Vesting Date Performance will be measured at the end of each 'Performance Year' during the Measurement Period, 
being 31 July 2025, 31 July 2026 and 31 July 2027.  
Assessment for each Performance Year will be reduced to the extent that shares have been issued in 
previous Performance Years under the same Performance Rights tranche. 
Performance Rights will vest upon the date upon which the relevant Vesting Condition has been 
satisfied, as determined by the Board, provided this occurs prior to the Expiry Date. 
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NOTE 20 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 

Vesting Conditions TRANCHE 1  
Up to 1,000,000 Performance Rights vest based on share price performance measured based on the 
Company’s highest 30-day volume weighted average price (VWAP) in the Performance Year. 

 VWAP less than 56¢ – Nil Performance Rights vest; 
 VWAP equals 56¢ –500,000 Performance Rights vest; 
 VWAP between 56¢ and 76¢ – pro rata Performance Rights vest between 500,000 and 1,000,000 

Performance Rights. 
 VWAP equals 76¢ or more – 1,000,000 Performance Rights Vest 
Any dividends paid during the Performance Year will added to the current VWAP from the point that 
the Company trades ex-dividend.  
TRANCHE 2  
Up to 1,000,000 Rights vest based on the Company’s portfolio value per share measured based on the 
Company’s highest month-end fair value in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (currently 
referred to as Net Tangible Assets) (Portfolio Value) in the Performance Year: 

 Portfolio Value less than 71¢ – Nil Performance Rights vest; 
 Portfolio Value equals 71¢ –500,000 Performance Rights vest; 
 Portfolio Value between 71¢ and 83¢ – pro rata Performance Rights vest between 500,000 and 

1,000,000 Performance Rights; 
 Portfolio Value equals 83¢ or more – 1,000,000 Performance Rights vest. 
Any dividends paid during the Performance Year will added to the current Portfolio Value from the 
point that the Company trades ex-dividend. 
The Board retains discretion to issue incremental Performance Rights (subject to shareholder approval) 
in the event of outstanding performance where the VWAP exceeds 76¢ and/or the Portfolio Value 
exceeds 83¢ in a Performance Year. 
RETENTION TRANCHE 
Up to 476,000 Performance Rights vest based on continuous service with the Company measured at 
each Performance Year: 

 95,200 Performance Rights Vest on 31 July 2025; 
 95,200 Rights Performance Rights on 31 July 2026; 
 285,600 Performance Rights on 31 July 2027. 

Disposal Restrictions Shares received upon exercise of any vested LTI Performance Rights will be subject to a two-year 
escrow period from the date of exercise. 

 
TRANCHE 1: Market based – Lion’s 30-day VWAP of at least $0.56 
over a 3-year period 

Monte carlo valuation of $0.2521 per right 

TRANCHE 2: Market based – Lion’s Portfolio Value of at least $0.71 
over a 3-year period 

Monte carlo valuation of $0.3074 per right 

RETENTION TRANCHE: Non-market based – continuing employment 
of the employee during the vesting period 

Binomial valuation of between $0.3517 to $0.3812 per 
right 

Underlying Company share price at measurement date $0.43 per share 

Volatility 45.91% 

Risk Free Rate 4.102% 

 
(b) Expenses arising from Share Based Transactions 
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee benefit expense 
were as follows: 

Share Based Payments 2024 
$ 

2023 
$ 

Short term employee benefits 30,712 - 

 30,712 - 
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NOTE 21 EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any item, transaction or event 
of a material or unusual nature which has or may significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future periods. 
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Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement 
 
Lion Selection Group Limited is not required by the Australian Accounting Standards to prepare 
consolidated financial statements. Therefore, section 295(3A) of the Corporations Act 2001 does not apply 
to the entity. 
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LION SELECTION GROUP LIMITED 
 
Directors’ Declaration 
 
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Lion Selection Group Limited, we declare that: 
 
1. In the opinion of the directors: 
 

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 10 to 34 are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and other mandatory reporting requirements, including: 
 
(i) complying with the Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and 

other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and 
 

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 
31 July 2024 and its performance for the year ended on that date; 

 
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 

and when they become due and payable. 
 

(c) The consolidated entity disclosure statement on page 34 is true and correct. 
 

2. Note 2(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 
3. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the 

directors in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 
31 July 2024. 

 
4. The directors have been given the declaration by the chief executive officer required by section 

295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the Board 
 
 

 
 
 
…………………………………………………………………………  ………………………………………………………………………… 
R A Widdup P J Maloney 
Chairman Director 
 
Melbourne 
Date: 12 September 2024 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Members of Lion Selection Group Limited 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Lion Selection Group Limited (the Company), which comprises 
the statement of financial position as at 31 July 2024, the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information, the 
consolidated entity disclosure statement and the directors’ declaration.  
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Lion Selection Group Limited is in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 July 2024 and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended; and  

(ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 
time of this auditor’s report.  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Fair Value of Financial Assets  

Refer to notes 3(d) and 7. 

At 31 July 2024, the Company held investments 
in listed entities totalling $24.4m and investments 
in unlisted entities totalling $7.4m. These 
financial assets are classified as fair value through 
profit or loss in accordance with AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments. The investments in listed entities 
are measured using Level 1 inputs, while 
investments in unlisted entities are measured 
using Level 2 inputs, in accordance with AASB 13 
Fair Value Measurement. 

This is a key audit matter due to the significant 
impact that any movement in the fair value could 
have on the net assets as at 31 July 2024 and the 
operating result for the year. 

 

 

We obtained the Company’s investment schedule as 
at 31 July 2024, which includes a listing of each 
investment held, and compared the total of the 
investment schedule to the amount recorded in the 
financial statements. 

We assessed whether the investment valuation 
techniques used by the Company were in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 

We performed the following procedures, amongst 
others, on the fair value of these investments: 

• For a sample of listed and unlisted 
investments, we compared the number of 
shares held to supporting evidence such as 
holding statements. 

• For a sample of listed and unlisted 
investments, we assessed the fair value with 
reference to quoted market prices or market 
observable data, if available. Where that 
information was unavailable, we considered 
other observable financial information in 
assessing the fair value. 
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Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 
information in the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 July 2024 but does not include the 
financial report and the auditor’s report thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the 
other information we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of: 

a) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001; and  

b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, and 

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of:  
i) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a 

true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
and 

ii) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report   

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:  
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.  
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters.  We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 



AustraliaAustralia

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Report on the Remuneration Report   

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in page 2 of the Directors’ Report for the year 
ended 31 July 2024.  
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Lion Selection Group Limited for the year ended 31 July 
2024, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

 

     
Nexia Melbourne Audit Pty Ltd   Richard Cen 
Melbourne      Director 
 
Dated this 12th day of September 2024 
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